IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

OLIVER HOLLIDAY

Petitioner,

٧.

Case No. 78,170

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent,

AN APPEAL FROM A CERTIFIED QUESTION FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, LAKELAND, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

JUDGE E. LUCKEY **PUBLIC DEFENDER**

GARY O. WELCH Assistant Public Defender County Courthouse Annex North 801 E. Twiggs Street Tampa, Florida, 33602 (813) 272-5980

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Petitioner was charged by information with one count of loitering while manifesting the purpose of illegally using a controlled substance. (R 5-6) Subsequently, the Petitioner moved to have the prosecution dismissed on various grounds. (R 7-8) On September 24, 1990 the Petitioner plead no contest to the manifesting charge while reserving his right to appeal the facial validity of the ordinance. (R 40 -44) The lower Court determined that the issue of facial validity of the ordinance was a dispositive issue, accepted the Petitioner's plea, and sentenced the Petitioner to 60 days in County Jail. (R 45-46) A timely Notice of Appeal was filed on September 28, 1990. (R 31) On March 11, 1991 the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit entered a per curiam affirmance in the cause. The Petitioner sought a Writ of Certiorari from the Second District Court of Appeal. On May 24, 1991 the Second District certified the issue as being a question of great public importance. It is from this posture that the instant case presents itself for review.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Chapter 24, Article 11, Section 24-43, City of Tampa Code:

- 1) impinges upon basic First Amendment Rights of Association;
- 2) is without sufficient specificity **so** as to provide a citizen of ordinary intelligence as to what acts **violate** the ordinance (vis a vis the exercise of fundamental rights); 3) allows unbridled enforcements to whim of law enforcement; and
- 4) violates the Fourth Amendment of the United States

 Constitution by authorizing arrests and convictions when
 there is insufficient evidence to warrant an investigative
 stop.

ARGUMENT

WHETHER CHAPTER 24, ARTICLE 11, SECTION 24-43, CITY OF TAMPA CODE, IS FACIALLY UNCONSTITUTIONAL?

Chapter 24, Article 11, Section 24-43, City of Tampa Code, is provides:

- (a) It shall be unlawful far any person to loiter in a public place in a manner and under circumstances manifesting the purpose of illegally using, possessing, transferring or selling any controlled substance as that term is defined in Section 893.02 Florida Statutes (1988), as now enacted or hereafter amended or transferred. Among the circumstances which may be considered in determining whether such a purpose is manifested are:
- (1) The person is a known illegal user, possessor or seller of controlled substances, or the person is at a location frequented by persons who illegally use, possess, transfer or sell controlled substances; and
 - (2) The person repeatedly beckons to, stops, attempts to stop or engage in conversations with passers-by, whether such passers-by are on foot or in a motor vehicle, for the purpose of inducing, enticing, soliciting or procuring another to illegally possess, transfer, or buy any controlled substances; or
 - (3) the person repeatedly passes to or receives from passers-by, whether such passers-by are on foot or in a motor vehicle, money, objects or written material for the purpose of inducing, enticing, soliciting or procuring another to illegally possess, transfer or buy any controlled substance.
 - (b) In Order for there to be a violation of subsection (a), the person's affirmative language or conduct must be such as to demonstrate by its express or implied content or appearance a specific intent to induce, entice, solicit or procure another to illegally possess, transfer or buy a controlled substance.

- (c) No arrest shall be made far a violation of subsection (a) unless the arresting officer first affords the person an opportunity to explain his conduct, and no one shall convicted of violating subsection (a) if it appears that the explanation given was true and disclosed a lawful purpose.
- (d) For the purpose of this section, a known illegal user, possessor or seller of controlled substances is a person who, within one (1) year previous to the date of arrest for violation of this section, has within the knowledge of the arresting officer been convicted of illegally manufacturing, using, possessing, selling, purchasing or delivering any controlled substance.

The Petitioner submits that the instant ordinance fails to provided a citizen of ordinary intelligence as to what acts violate the ordinance with sufficient particularity so as to allow a law abiding citizen to conform his conduct and **escape** the grasps of this ordinance. The ordinance, in part, provides that an element of the offense is to loiter. There is no definition provided which would limit this element to those definitions of criminal loitering as provided in §856.021, Florida Statutes (1989). At first blush it seems as though this is a spacious argument in light of the fact that reviewing courts are to apply the restrictive construction doctrine to cure any defect and that can be done in the instant case by applying the qualitative factors as found in \$856.021 (1), Florida Statutes. However, the application of the restrictive construction doctrine is not to be applied so as to defeat legislative (in this case the city commission's) intent. In the instant ordinance there

is a specific reference to Chapter 893. In doing so, the city commission has shown that it has considered definition by reference to the laws of Florida as codified; vet there is a complete absence or reference to the loitering statute or any language which would limit the application of the ordinance to a time or manner which would be unusual for law-abiding individuals. As such, it is clear that from both the exclusion of statutory reference and the plain language of the instant ordinance that it was not the city commission's intent to have this ordinance limited to a time or manner which would be unusual for law-abiding individuals. Since the restrictive construction doctrine can not be applied (since to do so would frustrate intent), the facially unmitigated breadth of the term loitering as provided in the instant ordinance does not provide a citizen of ordinary intelligence with notice as to what acts violate the ordinance, vis a vis, the normal societal activities that are inherent in the American scheme of life. Accordingly, the instant ordinance is unconstitutional on due process grounds due to the vagueness of the loitering element of the offenses which leaves law enforcement with unrestrained discretion in applying the ordinance. Kolender v. Lawson, 461 **US** 352 (1983).

The Petitioner also submits that the instant ordinance fails to provided sufficient limitations on the application of the ordinance. There is a complete absence of language in

the ordinance which would minimize the intrusiveness of the ordinance on fundamental First Amendment activities.

The particular deficiencies which are inherent in this ordinance are only revealed after close scrutiny and elimination of redundant language. To this point, the defendant provides the following analysis.

The instant ordinance provides, in part, that a defendant must have the purpose to illegally use, possess, transfer or sell any controlled substance. Chapter 24, Article 11, Section 24-43 (a), City of Tampa Code. Thereafter this same section of the ordinance provides three (3) enumerated paragraphs as a means by which this ordinance may prove such a purpose. These three paragraphs are written so that the illegal purpose element may be proven by a factual showing of either paragraphs 1&2 or paragraphs 1&3. Both paragraphs 2 and 3 provide, in part, that there be a showing of a purpose to entice, solicit or procure another to illegally possess, transfer or buy a controlled substance. As such, the ordinance provides that purpose may be proven by proving purpose. Such redundant language provides no direction and reveals the bare bones of the ordinance when such language is set aside. When this is done, Section 24-43(a)(2) and Section 24-43 (a)(3), City of Tampa Code, provides that stopping and conversing with people and/or passing materials or objects to people can be sufficient to manifest illegal purpose. These activities are at the heart

of the right of speech and association. Nothing materially limits the discretion of law enforcement in the application of this ordinance. Since (1) the breadth of coverage includes Constitutionally protected areas and (2) there are no restrictions which would minimized the intrusion upon fundamental rights; the instant ordinance is unconstitutional on overbreadth grounds. Papachristou v. City of Jacksonville, 405 U.S. 156 at 170 (1972).

The Fourth and Fourteenth Amendment require police to have probable cause to make an arrest. The Petitioner submits that the instant ordinance violates the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments since it permits arrest, prosecution and conviction for mere suspicion of illegal activity when the exact same acts would be clearly insufficient for any conviction (beyond a reasonable doubt) of a substantive drug related offense, would be insufficient to manifest probable cause of a substantive drug related offense and (in many cases) be insufficient for a Terry (founded suspicion) stop. As such, the instant offense clearly emasculates the substantive rights provided in the United States Constitution since it allows facts which amount to a mere suspicion of a Chapter 893, Florida Statutes, violation to be a substantive offense. This is exactly the fact pattern feared by Chief Justice Hewart in Frederock Dean, 18 Crim App 133 (1924), which was cited as authority cited by the United States

Supreme Court in <u>Papachristou v.</u> City of Jacksonville, supra:

It would be in the highest degree unfortunate if in any part of the country those who are responsible for setting in motion the criminal law should entertain, connive at or coquette with the idea that in a case where there is not enough evidence to charge the prisoner with an attempt to commit a crime, the prosecution may, nevertheless, on such insufficient evidence, succeed in obtaining and upholding a conviction under the Vagrancy Act.....

Papachristou v. City of Jacksonville, 405 U.S. 156 at 170 (1972), citing Frederock Dean, 18 Crim App 133 at 134 (1924),

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing argument and authority the Petitioner respectfully submits that the Tampa ordinance is uncanstitutional. As such, the Petitioner **prays** that this Honorable Court find Chapter 24, Article 11, Section 24-43, City of **Tampa** Code, to be violative of the United **State** and Florida Constitutions and vacate the judgment and sentence of the lower Court.