Ox7 w/app

Case No.: 78,170

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

SID 1 WHITE

AUG 13 1991

CLERK SUPREME COURT

By Chief Deputy Clerk

OLIVER HOLLIDAY

Petitioner,

VS.

CITY OF TAMPA and
STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondents.

ON APPEAL FROM A CERTIFIED QUESTION FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, LAKELAND, FLORIDA

### ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

PEGGY A. QUINCE
Assistant. Attorney General
Florida Bar Number 261041
Westwood Center, Suite 700
2002 N. Lois Avenue
Tampa, Florida 33607
(813) 873-4739

TYRON BROWN
Assistant City Attorney
Florida Bar Number 0770574
Sixth Floor City Hall
315 E. Kennedy Blvd.

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

V. City of Jacksonville, supra, the Jacksonville loitering ordinance (which was identical to Florida's previous loitering statute) was held unconstitutionally vague and overbroad because it substantially infringed upon constitutional rights. The basis of the decision relied on the fact that the statute prescribed loitering and nothing more. Obviously, the degree of infringement in individual rights was great. In an effort to reconcile this unconstitutional infirmity, the Florida Legislature quickly enacted a new loitering statute (§856.021, Florida Statutes), which was subsequently held constitutional by this Caurt in State v. Ecker, supra. The Court stated its reasons for holding the new statute constitutional as follows:

We readily recognize that if the statute broadly proscribed loitering or idling without more, as in the manner of our previous statute, it would be unconstitutional. On the other hand, it is recognized that if a statute proscribes loitering that threatens public safety or a breach of the peace, it can withstand constitutional attack. Id. at 107.

The rationale of these decisions is distinguishable because in <a href="Papachristou">Papachristou</a>, supra, the United States Supreme Court struck down the loitering ordinance because it prohibited loitering and nothing more; whereas, the loitering statute in <a href="Ecker">Ecker</a>, supra, concerned loitering which threatened the public peace and safety.

Similar to the State loitering statute, Tampa's Loitering for Drugs Ordinance prahibits loitering which threatens the public peace and safety. Certainly, illegal drug trafficking is a dangerous threat to the public peace and safety.

Tampa's Loitering for Drugs Ordinance is also distinguishable from the Metropolitan Dade County ordinance which was **held** to be unconstitutionally overbroad in <u>Sawyer v. Sandstrom</u>, 615 F.2d 311 (5th Cir. 1980). The Dade County ordinance at issue in that case stated:

A person commits the offense of loitering when he knowingly:

\* \* \* \* \* \*

Loiters in any place with one or more persons knowing that a narcotic or dangerous drug, as defined in Sections 893.01 and 893.15, Florida Statutes, is being unlawfully used or possessed. Id at 313.

The appellant in that case argued that the ordinance was unconstitutionally overbroad because it punished mere association with any person known to be in possession of, or using, narcotics. The ordinance did not require any active participation in a substantive narcotics offense. Id at 314. Agreeing with the appellant and holding the ordinance unconstitutionally overbroad, the Court in Sawyer stated:

The loitering ordinance **before** us punishes an individual not for his own criminal acts, but rather for his act of being in a public place **and** associating with individuals whom he knows to be engaged in criminal activity, i.e. drug use or possession. Both this court **and** the Supreme Court have recognized that under our system of justice punishment must be predicated only upon personal guilt. Id at 316.

Unlike the ordinance at issue in <u>Sawyer</u>, <u>supra</u>, however, Tampa's Loitering for Drugs Ordinance is predicated only upon personal unlawful conduct. An accused person under Tampa's Loitering for Drugs Ordinance is charged because of his unlawful conduct, not because of the unlawful conduct of somebody else. The unlawful conduct of an accused person under Tampa's Loitering for Drugs Ordinance is that the accused person was loitering in a public place for the purpose of illegally using, possessing, transferring or selling a controlled substance. It is the intent by a loitering person to illegally deal in a controlled substance which will cause that person to be charged with violating Tampa's Loitering for Drugs Ordinance.

The Loitering for Drugs Ordinance is narrowly drawn so that it does not encompass protected speech or associations, unlike the ordinances that were ruled unconstitutionally overbroad by the Courts in <u>Johnson v. Carson</u>, 569 F. Supp. 974 (M.D. Fla. 1983), Northern Virginia Chapter, ACLU v. City of Alexandria, 747 F. Supp 324 (E.D Va. 1990), <u>In the Interest of E.L.</u>, Seminole County, Fla., case number 89-1876-CJA, on appeal State v. E.L., 5th DCA case number 90-0794, and <u>State v. Calloway</u>, Brevard County, Fla., case number 89-4717-CF-A, on appeal, <u>State v. Calloway</u>, 5th DCA case number 89-2606.

The ordinance at issue in Carson provided in part that:

\$330.107(a), it shall be unlawful and a class D offense for any person to loiter in or near any thoroughfare, street, highway, or place open to the public in a manner and under circumstances manifesting the purpose of inducing, enticing, soliciting, or procuring another to commit an act of prostitution, lewdness, or assignation.

(b) Among the circumstances which may be considered in determining whether this purpose is manifested are that such a person (1) is a known prostitute, pimp, or sodomist; (2) repeatedly beckons to, stops or attempts to stop or engages passers-by in conversation; or (3) repeatedly stops or attempts to stop motor vehicle operators by hailing, waving of arms or any bodily gesture."

The ordinance at issue in Alexandria, provided in part that:

(a) It shall be unlawful far any person to loiter in a public place for the purpose of engaging in the sale, gift, distribution, possession or purchase of a controlled substance prohibited by section 18.2-248 18.2-248.1 or 18.2-250 of the Code of Virginia (1950), as amended. Circumstances manifesting such purpose on the part of a person shall include: (1) the person is in the same general location for at least 15 minutes; (2) while in the same general location and in a public place, the person has two or more face-to-face contacts with other individuals; and ((3)) each af such contacts (a) is with one or more different individuals, (b) lasts no more than two minutes, (c) involves actions or movements by the person consistent with an exchange of money or other small objects, (d) involves actions or movements by the person consistent with an effort to conceal an object appearing to be or to have been exchanged, and (e) terminates shortly after the completion of the same apparent exchange. For purposes of this subsection, "same general location" shall mean an area defined **as** a circle with a radius of 750 feet and a center being the place where a person is first observed by a law enforcement afficer.

The ordinances at issue in <u>In the Interest of E.L.</u> and in <u>Calloway</u> provide in part that:

It shall be unlawful for any person to loiter in or near any public street, right of way, or place open to the public, or in or near any public or private place in the City of Sanford [City of Melbourne] in a manner and under circumstances manifesting the purpose to engage in drug related activities contrary to the provisions of Chapter 893, of the Florida Statutes.

B. Section 21-21, Circumstances Manifesting such purposes enumerated.

Among the circumstances which may be considered as determining whether such purpose is manifest, are:

- 1. Such person is a known unlawful drug user, possessor; or seller. For purposes of this chapter, a "known unlawful drug user, possessor, or seller" is a person who has, within the knowledge of the arresting officer, been convicted in any court. within this state any violation involving the use, possession, or sale of any of the substances referred to in Chapter 893.03, Florida Statutes, or 817.564 or such person has been convicted of any violation of any of the provisions of said chapters of Florida Statutes or substantially similar laws of any political subdivision of this state of any other state; or person who displays physical characteristics of drug intoxication or usage, such as "needle tracks"; or a person who possesses drug paraphernalia as defined in Section 893.145, Florida Statutes.
- 2. Such person is currently subject to an order prohibiting his/her presence in a high drug activity geographic area;
- 3. Such person behaves in such a manner as to raise a reasonable suspicion that he or she is about to engage in or is then engaged in an unlawful drug-related activity, including by way of **example** only, such person acting as a "lookout":
- 4. Such person is physically identified by the officer as a member of a "gang" or association which has as its purpose illegal drug activity;
- 5. Such person transfers small objects or packages for currency in a furtive fashion;
- 6. Such person takes flight upon the appearance of a police officer;
- 7. Such person manifestly endeavors to conceal himself or herself or any object which reasonably could be involved in an unlawful drug-related activity;
- 8. The area involved is by public repute known to be an area of unlawful drug use and trafficking;
- 9. The premises involved are known to have been reported to law enforcement as a place **suspected** of drug **activity**;
- 10. Any vehicle involved is registered to a known unlawful drug user, possessor, or seller, or a person for whom there is an outstanding warrant for a crime involving drug-related activity.

The unconstitutional infirmity in those ordinances are not present in Tampa's Loitering for Drugs Ordinance. First, in the ordinance in <u>Carson</u>, being a "known prostitute, pimp, or sodomist" was, by itself, a circumstance to consider in determining if the ordinance had been violated. The Court in Carson noted that:

Thus, pursuant to \$330.107(b), a person convicted of a prostitution related crime within the previous year can be arrested for merely laitering in a public place. Id. at 978.

In the ordinances in <u>In the Interest of E.L.</u> and <u>Calloway</u>, being a "known unlawful drug **user**, possessar or seller" **was**, by itself, a circumstance to consider in determining if the ordinance had been violated. The Court in In the Interest of E.L. stated:

An individual who had been convicted of a drug offense 3 years ago is subject to arrest for being present on city streets, even though he is committing no other offense. Likewise, a person could be prosecuted far talking to an individual in a car, if that car is registered to a person who is a "known unlawful drug user".

The Court in Calloway stated:

Under this ordinance any person with a prior drug conviction could be prosecuted for simply standing on a street corner in a particular part of town.

Among the circumstances stated in Tampa's Loitering for Drugs Ordinance, however, is that a person is a known illegal drug dealer <u>and</u> such person exhibits other overt conduct far the purpose of illegally dealing in drugs. See attachment "A". The fact that a person is a known illegal drug dealer is not, by itself, a circumstance which may be considered in determining a person's intent under Tampa's Loitering for Drugs Ordinance; and, a known illegal drug dealer, with nothing more in terms of overt

conduct under Section 14-62, is not subject to arrest under Tampa's Loitering for Drugs Ordinance.

Second, the circumstances which could be used in determining intent under the ordinances in those cases were not specifically limited to unlawful conduct. For example, Section 330.107(b)(2) of the ordinance in <u>Carson</u> stated as a circumstance that a person "repeatedly beckens to, stops or attempts to stop or engages passers-by in conversation." That circumstance was not limited to the intent or purpose of soliciting prostitution. The Court in <u>Carson</u>, supra, stated that:

Other activities that could lead to arrest pursuant to \$330.107 include a known prostitute window shopping, standing an a street corner waiting for a bus, or spending time idly. Brown v Municipality of Anchorage, 584 P.2d 35 (Alaska 1978); City of Detroit v. Bowden, 149 N.W.2d 771 (1971). Also, anyone standing on the street corner repeatedly talking to passers-by, even if they are old friends, could be violating the ordinance. Id. at 978.

The ordinances in <u>In the Interest of E.L.</u> and in <u>Calloway</u> listed ten circumstances which could be **used** in determining intent to engage in unlawful drug **related** activities. None of the circumstances, however, **were** limited to the intent or purpose of engaging in unlawful drug related activities. The Court in <u>In</u> the Interest of E.L. noted that:

This ordinance would permit the arrest of a person for merely standing on a street corner in a part of town that law enforcement has unilaterally **determined** to be a "high drug activity geographic area".

The Court in Calloway observed that:

One could be prosecuted for selling a parcel of food or any other small object for cash while on a public street. This ordinance would permit the prosecution of an innocent person

waiting for a taxi cab in an area where illegal drug activity had taken place. It would even be possible for the state to seek conviction as a result of a person visiting a friend's home if the police had received information that the home had been the place af an earlier drug transaction.

The ordinance in <u>Alexandria</u> listed three circumstances which could be used in determing intent to engage in unlawful drug related activities, but none of the circumstances were limited to the intent or purpase of engaging in unlawful drug related activities. The Court in Alexandria precisely observed that:

The ordinance does not require engaging in the seven circumstances with unlawful intent to partake in drug-related activities; rather, the ordinance provides that the occurrence of the seven circumstances manifests intent. The separate specific intent requirement is nullified by the provision that deems engaging in the enumerated behaviors as manifesting an unlawful purpose. By equating unlawful purpase with seven innocent activities that may be accomplished by persons lacking unlawful intent, the Alexandria ordinance criminalizes a substantial amount of constitutionally protected activities. Id. at 328.

The circumstances which may be considered in determining intent under Tampa's Loitering far Drugs Ordinance is strictly limited to loitering in a public place for specific, unlawful purpose or intent - illegal drug dealings. Loitering for the purpose or intent of engaging in unlawful drug dealings is clearly loitering that threatens public safety or is a breach of the peace. Under Tampa's Loitering for Drugs Ordinance, therefore, innocent activities such as waiving of arms, engaging in conversation in public or exchanging of objects, with no intent to deal in illegal drugs, do not fall within the ambit of Tampa's ordinance.

In <u>City of Cleveland v. Howard</u>, 532 N.E.2d 1325 (Ohio Mun. 1987), the Court, in upholding as constitutional Cleveland's

loitering far prostitution ordinance, which is similar to Tampa's Loitering for Prostitution Ordinance and Loitering for Drugs Ordinance, stated:

The gist of the defendant's free speech argument is that Section 619.11 authorizes the arrest of an individual, who happens to be known to the police as a prostitute or panderer, for such constitutionally protected activities as waving at or engaging in conversation with a passerby on a public street. A similar argument was rejected by the Court of Appeals of New York in People v. Smith, supra. In disposing of the issue the court held, 44 N.Y.2d at 623, 407 N.Y.S.2d at 468, 378 N.E.2d at 1037-1038:

\* \*

"\*\*\*That defendant may have employed language and the public streets to ply her trade does **not** imbue her conduct with the full **panoply** of First Amendment protections. On the contrary, the statute, by its terms, is limited to conduct 'for the purpose of prostitution\*\*\*'--behavior which has never been a form of constitutionally protected free speech\*\*\*"

The <u>Smith</u> court's rationale is equally applicable to Section 619.11. Defendant's First Amendment attack upon the ordinance is not well-founded and therefore cannot be sustained.

Accordingly, the <u>Smith Court's rationale is equally</u> applicable to Section 14-62, Tampa's Loitering for Drugs Ordinance. Petitioner's First Amendment attack upon the ordinance in the present *case* is not well-founded and therefore should not be sustained.

Addressing the issue of averbreadth, the Court in <u>Alexandria</u> recognized that:

The overbreadth doctrine **has** been invoked in many challenges to **state** and local loitering statutes. An ordinance that prohibits loitering may survive an overbreadth challenge if the enactment requires scienter or specific intent to engage in an illicit act. Id. at 326-327. (citations omitted)

Numerous courts have rejected overbreadth challenges where the ordinance specifically required loitering for an unlawful purpose. Id. at 327. (citations omitted)

The Court in Alexandria found that:

None of the ordinances upheld resemble the Alexandria loitering ordinance which requires loitering for the purpose of engaging in unlawful drug-related activities and thereafter delineates seven circumstances that unequivocally manifest an unlawful purpose. Id. at 327.

Tampa's Loitering for Drugs Ordinance is similar to, and in some cases even more narrowly tailored than, other loitering for an unlawful purpose ordinances and laws contained in numerous municipal codes arid state statutes, which the vast majority of State Supreme Courts and state lower courts, that have addressed this issue, have upheld as constitutional against a variety of constitutional attacks similar to those made herein. Tampa's Ordinance is patterned after the State of Florida's Loitering and Prowling Statute, and guidelines in the American Law Institute's Model Penal Code, Proposed Official Draft, Sections 250.6 and 251.2.

As accurately pronounced by the Caurt in <u>State v. Evans</u>, 326 S.E.2d 303,307 (N.C. App. 1985):

American courts have overwhelmingly upheld enactments such as G.S. \$14-204.1 which include an element of criminal intent.

The Court in <u>Evans</u>, in considering the constitutionality of a North Carolina State Statute prohibiting loitering far the purpose of prostitution, which is drafted similar to Tampa's Loitering for Prostitution Ordinance and Loitering for Drugs Ordinance, found:

Our statute is functionally equivalent to these enactments, since intent or purpose ordinarily must be shown by

circumstantial evidence. Accordingly, we hold that the statute is not void for overbreadth.

In People v. Pagnotta, 253 N.E. 2d 202 (N.Y. Ct. App. 1969),

the New York Court of Appeals upheld as constitutional a loitering for drugs statute which in part provided:

A person who:

Uses, resorts to or loiters about any stairway, staircase, hall, roof, elevator, cellar, courtyard or any passageway of a building for: the purpose of unlawfully **using** or possessing any narcotic drug.

Is guilty of a misdemeanor.

The Court, in Pagnotta, held:

We hold the statute in the present case is not too vague, and is a completely reasonable restriction upon the individual for the public good. The statute makes it illegal to loiter about any "stairway, staircase, hall, roof, elevator, cellar, courtyard or any passageway af a building for the purpose af unlawfully using or possessing any narcotic drug. The statute does not penalize mere loitering as did the statute in Diaz, but rather prohibits loitering for the purpose of committing the crime of unlawfully using or possessing narcotic drugs."

In the leading case of <u>People v. Smith</u>, 407 N.Y.S.2d 462 (N.Y. Ct. App. 1978), the New York Court of Appeals quoted the state statute in question:

Any person who remains or wanders about in a public place and repeatedly beckons to, or repeatedly stops, or repeatedly attempts to stop, or repeatedly attempts to engage passersby in conversation, or repeatedly stops or attempts to stop motor vehicles, or repeatedly interferes with the free passage of other persons, for the purpose of prostitution, or of patronizing a prostitute, as those terms are defined in article two hundred thirty of the penal law, shall be guilty of a violation and is guilty of a class B misdemeanor if such person has previously been convicted of a violation of this section or of Sections 230.00 or 230.05 of the penal law. Id. at 464-65.

The Court held:

The strength of defendant's assault on Section 240.37 is diminished greatly by the presence therein of an element

lacking in those enactments struck down and declared void far vagueness. Id. at 466.

\* \*

of specific conduct, in addition to the loitering, which the arresting officer must observe. Thus, the statute explicitly limits its reach to loitering of a demonstrably harmful sore, i.e., loitering for the purpose of committing a specific offense. Id. at 466.

With respect to selective enforcement, the New York Court further noted:

Section 240.37, likewise, is **not** invalid for vagueness because it details the prohibited conduct and limits itself to one crime. As a consequence, the police are precluded from speculating or groping for violations in a Serbonian bog of ambiguous behavior which sounded the death knell for the statutes condemned in Diaz and Berck. The section does not authorize an arrest or conviction based on simple loitering by a known prostitute or anyone else; rather, it requires loitering plus additional objective conduct evincing that the observed activities are far the purpose of prostitution. Id. at 466.

The Court later rejected the challenge of overbreadth:

Finally, we reject the claim that the scope of Section 240.37 has a chilling effect of the exercise of First Amendment freedoms. Clearly, any criminal statute penalizes conduct and may, in the abstract, be said to impinge on speech or association in some fashion. But the protections afforded by the First Amendment are not absolute and the statute at issue here does **not** impermissibly sweep "within its prohibitions what may not be sunished under the First and Fourteenth Amendments" (Grayned v. City of Rockford, 408 U.S. 104, 115, 92 S.Ct. 2294, 2302, 33 L.Ed.2d 222, supra). That defendant may have employed language and the public streets to ply her trade does not imbue her conduct with the full panoply of First Amendment protections. On the contrary, the statute, by its terms, is limited ta conduct "for the purpose of prostitution, or of patronizing a prostitute" - behavior which has never been a farm of constitutionally protected free speech.

In another important case on this matter, <a href="People v. Superior">People v. Superior</a>
Court of Santa Clara County, 758 P.2d 1046 (Cal. 1988), the

Supreme Court of California thoroughly discussed the relevant issues in upholding as constitutional California Penal Code \$647(d) which provides that any person:

"{w}ho loiters in **or** about any toilet open to the public for the purpose of engaging in or soliciting any lewd or lascivious or any unlawful act" is guilty of a misdemeanor.

The Court, in <u>Short v. City of Birmingham</u>, 393 So.2d 518

(Ala. Ct. App. 1981), found Birmingham's loitering for prostitution ordinance constitutional. The Court in <u>Short</u> held that: (1) the ordinance created no unconstitutional presumption of guilt in view of fact that ordinance required proof of intent, which may be inferred from conduct; (2) the ordinance does not violate the Fifth Amendment because explicit standards for application by policemen are contained in ordinance; consequently, dangers of arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement are avoided; (3) the ordinance does not infringe upon First Amendment rights because the ordinance is limited to conduct "for the purpose of prostitution, or of patronizing a prostitute, or of soliciting for prostitution," and so was not overbroad.

The Supreme Court of Georgia, in <u>Lambert v. City af Atlanta</u>, 250 S.E.2d 456 (Ga. 1978), held that Atlanta's loitering for prostitution ordinance did not violate the equal protection and due process clauses in the **United** States and **Georgia** Constitutions - reversed on other grounds.

In <u>City of Seattle v. Jones</u>, **488** P.2d 750 (Wash. **1971)**, **the** Supreme Court of Washington upheld as constitutional the City of Seattle's loitering for prostitution ordinance.

In <u>City of Seattle v. Slack</u>, <u>supra</u>, the Supreme Court of Washington upheld as constitutional Seattle's loitering for prostitution ordinance, which had been amended since the <u>Jones</u> decision.

In <u>City</u> of <u>Tacoma v. Anderson and Luvene</u>, Pierce County, Washington, case number 88-1-03205-1, the Court upheld as constitutional. <u>Tacoma's loitering for drugs ordinance</u>, which is nearly identical to the loitering for drugs ordinances found unconstitutional in <u>In the Interest of E.L.</u>, <u>supra</u>, and <u>Calloway</u>, <u>supra</u>. See attachment "D." The <u>Anderson and Luvene</u> case has been appealed to the Supreme Court of Washington, answer brief due August 19, 1991.

In <u>City of Akron v. Holley</u>, 557 N.E.2d 861 (Ohio Mun. 1989), the Court upheld as constitutional Akron's loitering for drugs ordinance, which also is nearly identical to the ordinances ruled unconstitutional in In the Interest of E.L. and in Calloway.

Respondents herein respectfully submit that Tampa's Loitering for Drugs Ordinance is more specific and narrowly tailored than Tacoma's and Akron's loitering **far drugs** ordinances, and the ordinances in question in <u>In the Interest of E.L.</u> and in <u>Calloway</u>, for the reasons stated on pages 18 - 25 in this brief.

In <u>City of Akron v. Massey</u>, 381 N.E.2d 1362 (Ohio Mun. 1978), the Court upheld as constitutional Akron's loitering for prostitution.

In <u>City of Cleveland v. Howard</u>, <u>supra</u>, the Court upheld **as** constitutional Cleveland's loitering for prostitutian ordinance.

The Supreme Court of Minnesota, in <u>State v. Armstrong</u>, 162 N.W.2d 357 (Minn. 1968), upheld as constitutional Minneapolis' loitering for prostitution ordinance and lurking within intent to commit an unlawful act ordinance. The Court in <u>Armstrong</u> stated that:

The offense defined by each of the two ordinances consists of two essential elements: (1) The act of lurking or loitering and (2) a proved intent to commit an unlawful act. Whatever the arguable ambiguity or generality as to the element of "lurking" or "loitering," there is none whatever as to the element of intent. The element of intent gives meaning to the element of lurking or loitering and is a rational basis for proscribing such acts as harmful conduct. Both elements of the offense must, of course, be proved. The overt act of lurking or loitering, standing alone is not made punishable by the provisions of the ordinances under which defendant was charged. An unlawful intent, without more, is not made punishable. Because of this required union af overt act and unlawful intent, defendant is protected from punishment either for harmless conduct or far harmful conduct the criminality af which had not been fairly communicated to her. Id. at 360. (citations omitted)

The Court in <u>State v. Tucson</u>, 520 P.2d 1166 (Ariz. Ct. App. 1974), upheld **as** constitutional Tucson's loitering for the purpose of begging ordinance.

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